CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
Monday, 20th March, 2017
1.00 pm
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone

AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
Monday, 20th March, 2017, at 1.00 pm
Ask for:
Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall,
Maidstone
Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting
Membership
Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), Ms H Carpenter,
Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, Ms L Fisher,
Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms B Haskins, Mr A Heather, Mrs S Howes,
Ms N Khosla, Mr G Lymer, Ms D Marsh, Mrs C Moody, Ms C Mutton, Mr P Segurola,
Mr A Terry, Mr M J Vye and Mrs J Whittle
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)
Item
No
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the
meeting. Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.
A. PANEL BUSINESS
A1

Membership
To note that, since the last meeting of the Panel, the following changes have
been made to the Panel’s Membership:


Reece Graves and Chloe Mutton have joined the Panel, in place of Bella
Taylor and to fill the vacant VSK seat.



Alan Terry has joined the Panel, in place of Bob Neaves.

A2

Apologies and substitutes

A3

Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 20 January 2017 (Pages 5 - 14)

A4

Chairman's Announcements

A5

Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC)

A6

Corporate Parenting - Challenge Cards (Pages 15 - 24)

A7

Verbal Update by Cabinet Member

B. ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
B1

Kent Adoption Service - Statement of Purpose (Pages 25 - 44)

B2

Placement Stability - 'Sense of Belonging' (Pages 45 - 50)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items. During any such items
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)
John Lynch,
Head of Democratic Services
03000 410466
Friday, 10 March 2017
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant
report.

Agenda Item A3
KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room,
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 20 January 2017.
PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman),
Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, Mr T Doran, Ms M Emptage (Substitute for Ms S
Dunn), Ms L Fisher, Mr R Graves (Substitute for Ms S Dunstan), Mr S Gray,
Ms B Haskins, Mr A Heather, Mrs S Howes, Ms N Khosla, Mr G Lymer, Ms D Marsh,
Mrs C Moody, Mr P Segurola, Mr M J Vye and Mrs J Whittle
ALSO PRESENT: Mr P J Oakford
IN ATTENDANCE: Ms M Hall (Commissioning Manager - Children Living Away From
Home), Ms G O'Grady (Participation Co-ordinator, Specialist Children's Services)
and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
187. Apologies and substitutes
(Item A1)
Apologies for absence had been received from Sue Dunn and Sophia Dunstan.
Marion Emptage was present as a substitute for Sue Dunn and Reece Graves as a
substitute for Sophia Dunstan.
188. Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 9 November 2016
(Item A2)
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel’s meeting held on 9 November 2016 are
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman. There were no matters
arising.
189. Meeting dates 2017/2018
(Item A3)
1.
The Democratic Services Officer reported that, since publishing the list of
meeting dates shown on the agenda, it had become necessary to move the May
2017 meeting to 1 June 2017.
2.

RESOLVED that, taking account of the above, the dates reserved for meetings
of the Panel in 2017 and 2018 be noted, as follows:
Friday 20 January 2017 – 10.00 am
Monday 20 March 2017 – 1.00 pm
Thursday 1 June 2017 – 10.00 am
Friday 21 July 2017 – 10.00 am
Monday 18 September 2017 – 1.00 pm
Page 5

Thursday 9 November 2017 – 10.00 am
Monday 29 January 2018 – 1.00 pm
Thursday 22 March 2018 – 10.00 am
All meetings will take place at County Hall, Maidstone.
190. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC)
(Item A5)
1.
Mr Graves gave a verbal update on recent work undertaken by the
participation team on behalf of the Children in Care Councils (CICCs), the Super
Council and Young Adult Council (YAC). The text of the update is appended to these
minutes.
2.
In response to questions from the Panel by Mr Graves, Ms O’Grady and Mr
Segurola, and in subsequent discussion, the following points were raised:a) challenge cards, seeking a free young person’s railcard for members of the
YAC, and asking about the possibility of corporate parents acting as
guarantors for young people’s rent, were passed around the table for
Panel members to see. These and a previous challenge, asking that
young people in care be given a free provisional driving licence at 17, were
welcomed by the Panel as constructive suggestions which would
encourage independence, and corporate parents’ support of them would
echo the support and help that a young person’s own parents might
normally offer them as they approached adulthood and needed to become
independent. However, it was important to look carefully into the legalities
of the County Council as corporate parent taking on the role of guarantor;
b) more challenge cards were to follow and would be introduced to the Panel
gradually. Mr Segurola asked how the Panel wished challenge cards to
be handled, as the former Kent Corporate Parenting Group had previously
received them, and there was general agreement to the Corporate
Parenting Panel being the recipient of them and acting as a conduit by
which they could be passed on to the appropriate Portfolio holder to deal
with, eg the railcard request would be passed to the Cabinet Member for
Environment and Transport;
c) it was suggested that, in addition to supporting the previous challenge for a
free provisional driving licence, the Panel write to driving schools to seek
discounted fees on driving lessons, seek funds from the County Council
with which the costs of driving lessons could be subsidised and/or
approach reputable second hand car dealerships to help young people to
afford a first car. This was another way in which corporate parents could
offer the type of support that any other parent might offer;
d) another view was expressed that young people be made fully aware of the
costs of maintaining, insuring and running a car and a suggestion made
that young people be encouraged instead to start with a moped. This
would have the added benefit of allowing them to learn about and become
aware of road conditions and safety before moving up to owning a first car;

Page 6

e) County Council Members had previously used part of their Members grant
to help fund participation events, and attended and enjoyed various events
in their role as corporate parents. It was hoped that this would continue
and that new Members joining the Council in the May 2017 elections would
take up this option;
f)

the Panel was advised that the VSK apprentices continued to be involved,
as the Recruit Crew, in the recruitment and training of social workers and
foster carers, and were involved in preparing guidance on good practice in
this field. For this they would receive accredited training in recruitment
and selection issues, and this would help them build up useful employment
skills and something good to add to their CV. The possibility of
approaching universities to help train social work students was also being
considered;

g) the number of young people accessing advocacy services had increased,
showing that young people’s awareness of such services was good.
However, the Young Lives Foundation was working with the Young Adult
Council to further promote the use of this service;
h) the Chairman referred to the County Council staff lottery, the Kent Fund for
Children, which raised money from which small occasional payments could
be made to families to help them cover expenses such as school uniforms;
i)

the challenge card about corporate parents acting as guarantors for young
people’s rent costs found support among Panel members, as this would
help young people to afford better quality accommodation than they might
otherwise manage on their own. However, the experience of one Panel
member who had been a guarantor for a young person’s rent, but had been
left to pay off their debts, showed that anyone considering such an
arrangement needed to be fully aware of what they could be letting
themselves in for if the young person failed to manage their money properly
or keep up with the required payments. It was generally agreed that such an
arrangement should not be entered into lightly;

j)

Mr Segurola suggested that, as the provision of accommodation for young
people was a complex and changing area and had not been discussed
recently, an item be added to the Panel’s work programme for a future
meeting. He said he would shortly be attending a multi-disciplinary housing
group and would start to address the need to prioritise care leavers’
accommodation;

k) it was suggested that the Panel write to John Littlemore at Maidstone
Borough Council in his capacity as co-ordinator of district housing officers in
Kent, to lobby for the issue to be addressed by district and borough
councils; and
l)

3.

the Chairman suggested to Mr Graves that VSK apprentices might like to
suggest a topic affecting young people in care or care leavers to be looked
at in depth by a County Council Select Committee.
RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks
Page 7

191. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
(Item A6)
1.

Mr P J Oakford then gave a verbal update on the following issues:-

Foster Carers Mr and Mrs Upton of Canterbury had each been awarded an MBE
in the New Year’s Honours list. Over 32 years they had fostered 151 children and
young people.
Takeover challenge day in December – young people had taken over Specialists
Children’s Services for a day and had run meetings and questioned officers and the
Cabinet Member. The day had been challenging but successful and very useful for
both sides.
Early help team scorecard shared with young people for their comments –
challenging questions had also been asked about this.
Visit to Montague House social work team – here he had met social workers,
management and the administrative team and had been able to see at first hand the
challenges faced at all these levels.
Children’s Commissioner – a recent meeting had successfully highlighted the issue
of large numbers of children in care being placed in Kent by other local authorities.
This issue had now been added to the Commissioner’s Business Plan.
Unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC) - The number of new arrivals
had dropped dramatically, with only 20 arriving over the last 5 weeks, giving a current
UASC population of 600. However, the pressure on services was now transferring to
the 18+ service as large numbers of UASC turned 18. There were currently 700
young people in this category and this would rise to 1,000 by the end of May 2017.
The former reception centre at Swattenden had now closed and only Millbank was
still in use, currently housing 10 young people. Under the national dispersal
programme, all UASC arriving since July 2016 had been successfully accommodated
by other local authorities around the UK.
2.

In response to comments and questions from the Panel, Mr Oakford explained
the following:a) training on child sexual exploitation given by Kent Police had been very
well received and a film used as part of the training was praised by those
who had seen it as being frank and hard-hitting. However, suggestions
that this film be shared with a wider audience, including Kent MPs, foster
carers and County Council Members, had been met with the view from the
Police that its content was considered too disturbing. One particularly
shocking aspect of the film was gangs’ apparent awareness of vulnerable
children in care; the first question they would ask of a child would be their
care status;
b) the issue of other local authorities, particularly London boroughs, placing
large numbers of children in care in Kent had long been a concern, and an
added concern now was from media coverage that some of these young
people may be bringing drug habits and other problems into Kent. Placing
authorities were known not to be diligent in undertaking the necessary risk
assessments ahead of placing a child out of their area, and concern
expressed about what corporate parents in the receiving area could do,
realistically, to address the issue. A view was expressed that it should not
be the responsibility of the receiving authority to lobby the Government;
Page 8

instead, the Secretary of State and Children’s Commissioner should take
an overview and take on this responsibility. Mr Oakford advised that he
was a member of the Children’s Board of the Local Government
Association and undertook to raise this issue there;
c) a school governor on the Panel spoke of a case of a 14-year-old being
placed in Kent and smuggling drugs into the school in which she had been
placed. The safety of the placed child and of other children in the school
was of great concern, and it was suggested that this issue be referred to
the Education and Young People’s Services Cabinet Committee. Mr
Segurola added that, at the time of a child in care being placed into Kent, if
the County Council felt that the school placement found for them was
inappropriate, it would be challenged. Mr Heather added that educational
professionals in Kent were aware of the highly organised nature of gangs
which sought to infiltrate schools with drugs. Ms Emptage added that the
Kent education service had a support system for its own children in care
but had no knowledge of issues potentially coming in with children placed
by other local authorities. She confirmed that schools were rarely given
any briefing prior to a placement being made, and there had been no
application by a placing authority to set up any support system in advance
of placing a child. It was suggested that a survey of schools be undertaken
to identify the scale and breadth of the problem;
d) Mr Doran added that it was difficult for anyone outside Kent to understand
the scale of the challenge Kent faced. The national average population of
children in care in secondary schools was 6%, but some areas of Kent had
rates as high as 50%. Ms O’Grady added that Kent had a population of
1,300 children in care placed by other local authorities, yet placed only 300
of its own children in care out of the county;
e) a view was expressed that young people should be helped to see and
understand the whole issue of drugs and the damage they did to society
and to individuals’ physical and mental health. Any media or entertainment
giving the impression that drugs were glamorous in any way should be
banned;
f) Mr Oakford was thanked for raising this important subject as the Panel had
been able to have a frank and useful discussion about it; and
g) the takeover challenge was welcomed as a good engagement exercise. If
this were repeated, it would be most useful for the Panel to be involved.
3.

RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks, and that the
danger of drugs and gang culture coming into Kent with children placed by
other local authorities be referred to the Local Government Association
Children’s Board and the County Council’s Education and Young People’s
Services Cabinet Committee, as set out above.

192. Review of operation of the new Corporate Parenting Panel model
(Item B1)

Page 9

1.
Mr Segurola introduced the report and sought views on how well the revised
Panel was working, following its merger in summer 2016 with the Kent Corporate
Parenting Group. In discussion, the following comments were made:a) it had been a concern that the new, larger Panel might prove too large, and
perhaps be too daunting for young people to attend, but this concern had
not been borne out;
b) the broader Panel membership had been able to have useful, in-depth
conversations about issues of concern, for example the preceding
discussion arising from the Cabinet Member’s verbal update. This allowed
Panel members to share and understand issues;
c) the inclusion of corporate parenting training in the induction pack for newlyelected County Council members had long been an aim, and training would
be included for new entrants following the May 2017 elections;
d) the Panel’s work programme was perhaps too focussed on social care
issues. Suggestions for areas for inclusion were health and the voluntary
sector; and
e) it was suggested that the Panel’s membership should include
representatives of the Police and professionals working with disabled
children and young people.
2.

RESOLVED that:a) the report be noted;
b) the Police and disabled children’s service in the Social Care, Health and
Wellbeing Directorate be approached to identify representatives to join the
Panel;
c) the work programme be shared with the whole Panel to seek items for
inclusion; and
d) the operation of the Panel be reviewed again in January 2018.

193. Review and Update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning
Strategy - 2015 - 2018
(Item B2)
Ms M Hall, Commissioning Manager, was in attendance for this item.
1.
Ms Hall introduced the report and highlighted key areas of work and progress
since the Panel had last received an update, including much work on an intense
review of the Strategy since December 2016. The Panel had been receiving updates
twice-yearly on progress against achieving the eight measures in the Strategy, and
this would continue. There were currently two areas in which improvement was
sought – measures 3 (placements beyond 20 miles from a child’s family home) and 6
(children having three or more placements). In response to comments and questions
from the Panel, Ms Hall, Mr Segurola and Ms Khosla explained the following:a) in response to a concern that the present measures were not sufficiently
robust or precise, worded as ‘we expect to see..’ rather than ‘we will…’, Ms
Page 10

Hall explained that work was in hand to revisit and tighten these in the light
of changing provision, eg the number of independent accommodation
providers had increased greatly in the last 2 or three 3 years. Mr Segurola
added that it would also be necessary to revisit the breadth and variety of
provision, linking to the 0 – 21 and 0 – 25 strategies;
b) in terms of placement stability, work was ongoing with VSK and the new
Head of the Fostering service, Caroline Smith, under the ‘Sense of
Belonging’ programme, to increase stability. Additionally, in the ‘Mocking
Bird’ model, one respite household would be established for every three
care households;
c) all children’s commissioning activity was now undertaken by one combined
commissioning team under a new Interim Head of Children’s
Commissioning, Karen Sharp, which had made it more possible to achieve
an overview of activity;
d) Ms Khosla added that the County Council needed to use the Strategy to
promote its activity in housing care leavers, particularly UASC, and could
liaise particularly with district councils’ housing departments. To get a clear
and full picture of need and provision, which was a complex service area, it
would be necessary to take account of patterns of adoption and special
guardianship orders and their effect in freeing up foster care placements. In
that way, the County Council could ‘future proof’ its service;
e) safety pods were welcomed as a new initiative which would avoid the need
to use bed and breakfast accommodation to house young people. Any
shared accommodation would be used only for a maximum of 28 days
while a young person’s needs were being assessed;
f) in response to a question about the provision of training accommodation
for young people, in which they could learn cooking and budgeting skills,
Ms Khosla commented that this would be a good project to take on;
g) a request was made that future performance reports give actual figures, eg
of the numbers of young people using a service, rather than the
percentages shown currently; and
h) in response to a concern about the rate of placement breakdown, and how
breakdown could be avoided if signs were noticed early enough, Mr
Segurola advised that support for foster carers taking on children with
challenging needs was provided by the Sense of Belonging programme
and Mocking Bird model. More support would also be given to foster
carers at the start of a placement, and work currently being done to
improve CAMHS would also help placement stability.
2.

RESOLVED that the reviewed and updated Sufficiency, Placements and
Commissioning Strategy 2015 – 2018 be welcomed and endorsed.

194. Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) Annual Report 2015 - 16
(Item B3)

Page 11

1.
Mr Doran introduced the report and pointed out that the 2015/2016 academic
year had been a successful one for VSK. He highlighted the difficulty of comparing
that year with previous as it had been the first year of Ofsted’s new performance
measures and monitoring system. He updated the Panel on some latest figures, as
follows:
a) the number of children who were NEET had dropped from 53% in September
2015 to 25.7% in September 2016. The ‘snapshot’ figure for January 2017
was 19.8%;
b) attendance and absence showed a variable picture across Kent. Attendance
falling short of 90% was classified as ‘persistent absence’, but this threshold
had been increased from 85%;
c) VSK was collaborating with the Fostering service on the Sense of Belonging
programme and had added to its monthly performance dashboard the number
of children experiencing two or more changes of placement. The Head of
Fostering attended VSK team meetings and there was good two-way
information sharing;
d) the VSK apprentices had continued their excellent work on increasing
participation and engagement. One apprentice had taken a permanent post in
the VSK team. Memberships of the various committees had increased, as
follows:- Our Children and Young People’s Council: 42, Young Adult Council:
19, Junior Council: 15 – making an overall total of 76, which was very
pleasing. There had been 19 activity days in the 2015/16 academic year,
attended by a total of 450 children and young people. The number of activity
days for young people aged over 16 had increased; and
e) Kent continued its record of innovative, collaborative support of individual
pupils using Pupil Premium Plus (PP+).
2.

Mr Doran responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as follows:a) Mr Doran received congratulations for the VSK team’s work and many
years of dedication to supporting the educational success of children and
young people in care. It was suggested that this work should be shared
with a wider audience by the VSK annual report being reported to the
County Council’s Education and Young People’s Services Cabinet
Committee;
b) spending of PP+ was carefully monitored and Mr Doran offered to supply
more detailed information outside the meeting. There had been much
good practice and improvement since the inception of PP+ and it was
hoped that more improvement would be achieved in the future. Examples
were given of young people who had benefitted personally from PP+
investment;
c) Mr Doran explained that the figures quoted in the VSK dashboard and the
scorecard presented to the Children’s Social Care and Health Cabinet
Committee at its December meeting, in terms of the number of care
leavers who were NEET, were not based on the same information or the
Page 12

same cohorts of young people. Figures used in the VSK report were
concerned with 16–18 year olds only, whereas the scorecard was
concerned with 18–21 year olds;
d) it was requested that induction training for newly-elected Members in May
2017 include details of the programme of participation events, so that all
elected Members would have the opportunity to attend and become
involved. Current Members who had attended such events had found them
very enjoyable; and
e) it was important to look at patterns of demand across the county and
ensure that services were provided where young people wanted and
needed them and could make the best use of them.
RESOLVED that:a) the information set out in the report be noted, with thanks;
b) Mr Doran and his team be congratulated on the work of VSK; and
c) the annual report be referred to the County Council’s Education and Young
People’s Services Cabinet Committee so that committee could be kept up
to date with the work of VSK.

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item A6

From:

Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s
Services
Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health
and Wellbeing

To:

Corporate Parenting Panel – 20 March 2017

Subject:

CORPORATE PARENTING – CHALLENGE CARDS

Classification:

Unrestricted

Electoral Division:

All

Summary: This report provides Members with an overview of the Challenge Cards
process, progress made and current challenges.
Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to
CONSIDER and COMMENT on the Challenge Card process and progress to date.

1.

Introduction

1.1 In February 2015, through consultation with young Care Leavers and Children
in Care (CiC), the Virtual School Kent (VSK) Participation and Engagement
Team developed the concept of Challenge Cards. Further information on the
background to the development of the Challenge Cards is attached as Appendix
1.
1.2 The initiative came about through various discussions at Kent’s Children in Care
Council (OCYPC) meetings, where young people told us that they would like a
formal way to have the opportunity of having their voices heard by their
corporate parents and the decision makers in the council.
1.3 The young people also wanted a way to be able to ‘challenge’ or make
suggestions about how improvements could be made to the care system. The
idea of the Challenge Cards has evolved and these cards are now used to
support CiC and Care Leavers to ‘challenge’ their corporate parents around the
issues facing them as looked after children.
2.

Process

2.1 A process was agreed and was signed off by the Corporate Parenting Panel
(CPP) and is outlined below:


Any young person in care or Care Leaver can raise a challenge. The
challenge is then taken to one of the CiC Councils (Super Council – the
Junior Council), OCYPC or our Young Adults Council (YAC). A challenge is
highlighted to the Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting and raised at

Page 15

the Children in Care Council meeting. The Challenge is discussed and if it
is agreed upon by three or more members it is agreed.

3.



Agreed Challenges are then taken forward; they were previously taken to
the Kent Corporate Parenting Group - a multi-agency forum consisting of
KCC Senior Officers and other Kent agencies responsible for delivering
effective corporate parenting for CiC. Since this group is no longer in
existence, Challenges are taken to the CiC Service Manager Meetings
chaired by the Assistant Director Corporate Parenting. The Assistant
Director Corporate Parenting will ensure that the actions are allocated to a
lead officer and they will ask the VSK participation officer to ensure there is
a response and reported back to the CiC Council Meetings.



The CiC Council meeting will have an opportunity to advise if they are
satisfied with the outcome and agree that the Challenge has been
completed and ‘sign off’ the card. The VSK participation lead will be on
hand to support, explain and advise if there are particular reasons as to
why a Challenge cannot be progressed. Sometimes challenges received
are personal child-specific issues; these are discussed with the young
person and then passed onto their social worker or Personal Advisor for
resolution and other times the challenges are on a large scale with
significant cost implications and the CiC Council has to consider the
impact of such requests and whether these are achievable.



VSK Care Leaver Apprentices who are members of the CPP provide
regular updates to CPP as to the outcome of the Challenge Cards. CPP
provides comment and can influence responses to Challenges.



Outcomes of Challenges are disseminated to CiC who are not CiC Council
members via the VSK Newsletters that is published three times a year.



Challenge cards are discussed at every Super Council, OCYPC & YAC
meeting.



A detailed log is kept by the VSK participation lead recording the
Challenges, responsible officers, outcomes and providing updates to
young people.

Previous Challenges

3.1 May 2015
Involve CiC in designing business cards with social workers’ details and
contact information on them to help CiC know who their social workers
are and how they can contact them
Action: Responsible Officer – West Kent CiC Service Manager
This Challenge was agreed and VSK ran a competition for young people to
design the business card. The chosen design was made into a business card

Page 16

by Communication Team and cards have been shared with children in care
social workers.
For KCC to set up a bank account for CiC where they 'match fund' or pay
amounts into that the young people can access when they are 18
Action: Responsible Officer – Assistant Director Corporate Parenting
Pocket Money and Savings Guidance has been written by the Assistant Director
Corporate Parenting and is a Kent Policy for Specialist Children’s Services.
The CiC Council requested an easy to read version and this has been provided.
For young people in care to be able to see their younger siblings who still
live with their parents or live in another placement. To meet in a safe
place with a contact manager and not with the rest of the family
Action: Responsible Officer – Service Manager for Safeguarding and Quality
Assurance
Agreement to advocate more for sibling contact where is it safe and
appropriate. A decision was made to include a discussion in the Looked After
Child Review meeting so young people’s views on the subject are sought.
Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) have been tasked with ensuring this is a
consideration for social workers.
3.2 September 2015
For young people to see their social worker more often, and for social
workers to listen and co-operate more with issues, particularly around
placement
Action: Responsible Officer – Assistant Director Corporate Parenting
A response provided and reported back to Children in Care Councils. The
Assistant Director Corporate Parenting produced an article that was published
in the December 2015 newsletter explaining the role of a Social Worker to
young people, what they can do and how to access their social worker. There
was also a pen picture of a social worker’s role and some of the pressures in
their work.
3.3 February 2016
Why social workers are all so different? Why do some make things
happen and fight our corner more than others? How can you help other
children understand what their social worker is meant to do for them?
This challenge resulted because young people were not happy with the answer
they received to their Challenge about social workers and wanting to see them
more regularly.
Action: Responsible Officers – CiC Teams
Service Managers and Team Managers from the CiC teams attended the CiC
Council meeting to answer questions form young people directly. Young people
reported that they were very happy that their questions had been answered

Page 17

directly and that they had a much better understanding of the role of their social
worker. A synopsis of the Questions and Answers was published in the VSK
newsletter to reach a wider audience.
3.4 May 2016
A lot of young people were reporting that they still hadn’t received copies
of the new Kent Pledge Cards or the Business Card from their social
worker. They felt they had worked hard on both of these initiatives and
that young people should be receiving them
Action: Responsible Officer - Director Specialist Children’s Services
The Director undertook this to ensure that IROs specifically addressed this
issue in CiC Review meetings. The Participation Team undertook to ensure
that all CiC teams had sufficient supplies.
3.5 July 2016
Young people asked for Corporate Parenting support to help all the CiC
Councils achieve their purpose
Action: Responsible Officer – Assistant Director Corporate Parenting and CPP
Members
This challenge came as a result of consultation with the young people and
checking what they wanted the purpose and role of CiC Councils to be. There
is now a clear work plan which defines the purpose and future work of the
Councils.
4.

Current Challenges

4.1 February 2017
A request for the Local Authority to provide a young person’s railcard to
YAC members to help them with their travel costs as a reward for
becoming a YAC member. It would make jobs more accessible, and
encourage independence
Action: Responsible Officer – Assistant Director Corporate Parenting
The costs of the rail card, along with the numbers of young people who would
be eligible to have one, are being reviewed.
A decision will be made by the Assistant Director Corporate Parenting and the
Director of Specialist Children’s Services by March 2017.
If a young person over school leaving age decided to be fully independent
and work full time, paying their own rent, would the Local Authority, as a
'Corporate Parent', act as the young person's guarantor?
Action: Responsible Officer – Assistant Director Corporate Parenting
This is currently being investigated in terms of the liability to the Local Authority
(LA) if they were to become a rent guarantor. It is unlikely that the LA can take
on the responsibility of being a guarantor and legal advice is being sought on

Page 18

this issue. There is, however, other support that can be put in place that will
enable young people to obtain accommodation and secure their tenancy. This
includes care leaving service providing the deposit and a month’s rent in
advance; this would limit the LA’s liability. The LA is working to ensure that
there is sufficient housing that is accessible for young people.
5.

Recommendation

5.1
Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to
CONSIDER and COMMENT on the Challenge Card process and progress to date.

6.

Background Documents
None

7.

Contact details
Report Author
Tony Doran
Head Teacher, Virtual School Kent
07921038094
tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
Lead Officer
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

VSK’S PARTICIPATION TEAM
The way we do things: Challenge Cards

Background to the Development of the Challenge Cards
Looked after Children requested the opportunity to have their voices heard by those who
work for Kent County Council, and who make the decisions about how they are cared for
away from their families. They wanted a chance to express their views, opinions and
share experiences of being a child in care or a care leaver.
To improve the experiences of care and leaving care Challenge Cards have been
developed; young people can then hold corporate parents to account. This has been
framed at request of the young people into: - You Said, We Did.

You Said
We want our views, experiences and voices to be listened to and heard.

We Did
Your VSK Participation Team have worked to create a new “Challenge Card” that you can
use to write down and express your views.
The Challenges are agreed by the one of the Kent Children in Care Councils (Super
Council, OCYPC or YAC), then are taken to a meeting with Senior Officers who work for
Kent County Council for them to discuss and decide upon. They will then report back to
us and we will advise you of the outcome.

Page 21

These challenge cards, will help to improve the future services and ways of working with
children and Young people in care and without your help we wouldn’t know what should
be doing or things we could change. So Speak up. Be heard and be a part of changing the
lives of others!
Contacts: Sophia Dunstan – VSK Participation Support Assistant
Gemma O’Grady – Participation Coordinator
Jo Carpenter – VSK Business Manager
Email: VSK_Particpation@kent.gov.uk

The way we do things: Challenge Cards
Action/ Question card agreed by the Super Council,
OCYPC or YAC Council
Challenge card passed to VSK P&E Team
P&E Team updates the log
Challenge is taken to CiC Meeting and decision made
about responsibility for actioning the Challenge
Responsible person updates VSK P&E Team with
outcome of challenge
VSK P&E Team updates CiC Councils Chair Person
before next CIC council meeting
CiC Councils Chair Person decides either:

Page 22

Put on hold, awaiting action
from responsible person and
notes timescale for response

To sign off Card

VSK P&E Team
updates log
Update VSK P&E Team who
updates the log

When action completed

Page 23

CiC Council Chair Person
advises Council of
outcome

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item B1

From:

Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s
Services
Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health
and Wellbeing

To:

Corporate Parenting Panel – 20 March 2017

Subject:

KENT ADOPTION SERVICE - STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

Classification:

Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions:

All

Summary: This Statement of Purpose sets out the framework for Kent County
Council’s Adoption Service, as required under the Adoption and Children Act 2002,
the Adoption Agencies Regulations and Guidance 2013 and the Adoption National
Minimum Standards (Care Standards Act 2000).
Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to
CONSIDER the information contained within the report and COMMENT on the range
of services provided and their suitability to meet the needs of adoptees and their
families in order to provide an ‘Outstanding’ service.
1.

Introduction

1.1 Kent County Council (KCC) is committed to ensuring that children are able to
remain in the care of their parents and birth families wherever possible.
However, where it is not possible to achieve stability for the child within the birth
family, the council works to achieve alternative permanent arrangements for the
child within a family setting and these include adoption.
2.

Body of the Report

2.1 The outcome of the Statement of Purpose (National Minimum Standard 18) is to
ensure children, service users and members of staff are clear about the aims
and objectives of the adoption agency/adoption support agency and what
services and facilities it provides. The Standard requires:


The adoption agency and adoption support agency has a clear Statement of
Purpose which is available to and understood by staff, volunteers, children,
birth parents and guardians, prospective adopters and adopters, and is
reflected in any policies, procedures and guidance.



The aims and objectives of the Statement of Purpose should be outcomefocused and, for adoption agencies, show how the service will meet
outcomes for children.



The adoption agency/registered person of the adoption support agency
formally approves the Statement of Purpose and children’s guides, and
reviews them at least annually.
Page 25



The agency’s policies, procedures and any written guidance to staff and
volunteers accurately reflect the Statement of Purpose.

2.2 The updated Statement of Purpose, which is attached as Appendix 1, will be
uploaded onto TriX, which is a public-facing, on-line Children’s Procedures
Manual.
3.

Conclusions

3.1 The purpose of the Adoption Service is to provide a comprehensive service to
meet the needs of children who have been, or may become, adopted, birth
families, and adoptive parents. This will include services in relation to those
‘looked after’ children with an adoption plan, and also in relation to the nonagency adoption service. The Statement of Purpose outlines the range of
services delivered in order to achieve permanency for children through
adoption.
4.

Recommendation
4.1 Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked
to CONSIDER the information contained within the report and COMMENT on
the range of services provided and their suitability to meet the needs of
adoptees and their families in order to provide an ‘Outstanding’ service.

5.

Background Documents

5.1 The previous Statement of Purpose (January 2016) can be accessed on TriX
(the central electronic system for all KCC policies and procedures) at
http://kentchildcare.proceduresonline.com/pdfs/sop_adoption.pdf
6.

Contact Details

6.1 Lead Officer
Naintara Khosla, Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 422241
naintara.khosla@kent.gov.uk
6.2 Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 26

KENT ADOPTION SERVICE
STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

Page 27

CONTENTS
Page
PURPOSE AND OBJECTIVES OF KENT COUNTY COUNCIL
ADOPTION SERVICE

3

SERVICES PROVIDED BY KENT COUNTY COUNCIL ADOPTION
SERVICE

5

RECRUITMENT & ASSESSMENT TEAM, & NON AGENCY
ADOPTIONS

5

FAMILY FINDING

7

ADOPTION PANEL MANAGEMENT AND QUALITY ASSURANCE
TEAM

9

POST ADOPTION & SPECIAL GUARDIANSHIP SUPPORT TEAM

10

BARNARDO’S CAFIS

11

INTER-COUNTRY ADOPTION

12

MANAGEMENT & MONITORING OF THE SERVICE

13

COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE

14

SERVICE STRUCTURE AND QUALIFICATIONS

Page 28

16 -17

Purpose and Objectives of the Kent County Council Adoption
Service
This Statement of Purpose sets out the framework for Kent County Council’s
Adoption Service as required under the Adoption & Children Act 2002, the Adoption
Agencies Regulations and Guidance 2013, and the Adoption National Minimum
Standards (Care Standards Act 2000).Kent County is committed to ensuring that
children are able to remain in the care of their parents and birth families wherever
possible. However, where it is not possible to achieve stability for the child within the
birth family, we work to achieve alternative permanent arrangements for the child
within a family setting and these include adoption.
The purpose of the Adoption Service is to provide a comprehensive service to meet
the needs of children who have been or may become adopted, birth families, and
adoptive parents. This will include services in relation to those ‘looked after’ children
with an adoption plan, and also in relation to the non-agency adoption service.
In order to achieve its aims the Adoption Service will:

Ensure that the needs and wishes, welfare and safety of the child are at the
centre of the adoption process.



Welcome those people, who are interested in becoming adoptive parents
without prejudice, respond to them promptly and provide them with clear
information about recruitment, assessment and approval.



Ensure that services are provided to all involved in adoption that recognises
the lifelong implications of adoption.



Assess and prepare prospective adopters who can offer children a stable and
permanent home.



Provide help and support to achieve a successful and lasting placement.



Monitor children through the process to minimise delay.

All those involved in adoption will be treated fairly, openly and with respect
throughout the adoption process.

Page 29

Core Values
The Adoption Service has as its Core Values:


Children are entitled to grow up as part of a loving family which can meet their
needs during childhood and beyond.



It is best for children where possible to be brought up by their own birth
family.



The child’s welfare, safety and needs will be at the centre of the adoption
process.



The child’s wishes and feelings will be actively sought and fully taken into
account at all stages. The preferred communication methods of each child
should be promoted and supported.



Birth parents and families will be encouraged and supported to contribute to
the planning and implementation of their child’s adoption care plan



Delays in the adoption journey of any child can have a severe impact on the
health and development of children and should be avoided wherever
possible.



Children’s ethnic origin, cultural background, religion and language will be
fully recognised and positively valued and promoted when decisions are
made.



Children should be allowed to live with brothers and sisters unless this will not
meet their individual needs. People applying to adopt are expected to
understand the importance of maintaining these relationships.



The particular needs of disabled children will be fully recognised and taken
into account when decisions are made.



The role of adoptive parents in offering a permanent family to a child who
cannot live with their birth family will be valued and respected.



Adoption has lifelong implications for all involved and requires commitment
from many different organisations, professions and individuals who have to
work together to meet the needs for services of those affected by adoption.



Prospective adopters will be adequately prepared and supported to promote
the child’s social and emotional development, to enable the child to develop
emotional resilience and positive self esteem



Partnership working with others, internally and externally, to ensure that the
Adoption National Standards are met.

Page 30

Services Provided by the Kent County Council Adoption Service
The adoption service is structured as follows:


Two Recruitment & Assessment Teams



Family Finding Team



Adoption Panel Management and Quality Assurance Team



Post Adoption Support Team – in Partnership with Coram



Barnardo’s (CAFIS) commissioned to work on behalf of Kent to provide
independent support for birth parents of children with adoption plans;
counselling to adult adoptees; access to information post adoption; support
for post adoption & post SGO contact arrangements

The Intercountry Adoption Centre (IAC) has been commissioned to provide a full
service from the point of enquiry until the child enters the UK with the adopters.

Recruitment & Assessment Team (R & A)
The focus of the Recruitment & Assessment Teams is to recruit adopters for all Kent
children with a plan for adoption: the emphasis in the recruitment strategy is to
identify families able to adopt sibling groups; children with disabilities/complex needs;
children of minority ethnic groups; and foster to adopt carers. The recruitment of
adopters is a priority for the Kent Adoption service. There are two Recruitment &
Assessment Teams with their own team managers (see structure chart).
Kent’s procedures are set out in the Recruitment, Assessment & Approval section,
Kent Children’s procedures online.
The following are normally the main steps in the process: Initial Enquiry







Applicants can call the initial enquiry line on 03000 422 373 or enquire via
email.
Prospective adopters contacting the service are directed to the Kent Adoption
and First4Adoption websites.
Our monthly information events are advertised on the website and enquirers
are able to attend without prior booking.
Those attending the Information Session can book an initial home visit with a
social worker; they can also book after the event.
The initial enquiry form is completed in a follow up phone call by the initial
enquiry officer and the home visit is confirmed.
This will allow the potential adopter to further explore the adoption process
whilst providing the adoption service with the opportunity to determine which
applicants are most likely to meet the needs of Kent children requiring
adoptive placements
Page 31




Applicants are given the Registration of Interest form following successful
Initial Home Visit. If the application is accepted, prospective adopters will be
given the necessary information required for Stage One of the process.
If the social worker does not recommend progression of the prospective
adopter’s application to Stage one the applicants are advised of the reasons
for this decision and possible action they may wish to take. They are also
advised how to access the Kent County Council Complaints Procedure.

Stage One Assessment Process - Time scale 2 months




The social worker who undertook the home visit usually continues to support
potential adopters during stage one.
Prospective adopters are expected to complete First4Adoption e-learning
before attending the 3 day preparation course as well as self-assessment
forms.
In accordance with the Adoption Agency Regulations 2005, Kent County
Council is required to carry out statutory checks and references in relation to
all applicants. These include:

Barring and Disclosure Service (DBS)
Three personal references for single applicants and four for couples
Employment references (usually during stage two)
Local Authority checks
Medical assessment
Health visits or school checks if appropriate (or during stage two)
 Housing (mortgage/rental status)







The Stage One Social Worker will make a decision along with the team manager if
the applicant meets the requirements to proceed to Stage Two of the process.
Those who are not suitable at this stage will be provided with a verbal and written
explanation. Potential adopters are able to take a break of up to 6 months between
stage one and two.
Stage Two Assessment Process - Time scale 4 months
Prospective adopters usually continue with their stage one Social Worker who will
undertake a full assessment. Further checks as appropriate are taken during this
stage (ex-partner, health visitor, school, adult children) unless a professional
decision was taken that this was required during stage one. Prospective adopters
attend a two day preparation course during this stage. Approved foster carers and
second time adopters (approved after 2006) can proceed straight to Stage Two of
the assessment process. Once the assessment is completed, it is presented to the
Adoption Panel for consideration and recommendation to the Agency Decision
Maker (ADM) for a final decision

Page 32

Non-Agency Assessments
The Non-Agency social workers were included in the R&A Service in late 2016. The
progress of each case is monitored through supervision and monthly tracking
meetings. There is a transition to a two phase process (mirroring that of the agency
two stage process) so that all references and checks are completed in phase one to
identify whether there are reasons that the adoption order is unlikely to be granted.
Procedures for the social workers undertaking non agency assessments are set out
in the Non-Agency adoption section, Kent Children’s procedures online.

Family Finding
We will aim to place children with a family which understands and will promote their
ethnic origin, cultural background, religion and language. Placements will be secured
in a timely manner. We recognise that for a small number of children finding the best
possible match will exceed expected timescales. However, we are committed to
finding legal permanence for all of our children.
The adopters’ ability to accept the child’s background, valuing birth parents as being
important to children now and into their adulthood, understanding of the impact of
neglect and possible abuse on the child, their own family structure and support, and
their approach to child rearing will all be considered in an effort to find a family best
matched to the child.
If appropriate families are not available in Kent, every effort is made to find a family
through Adoption Match, Adoption Link Maker, sharing profiles with adoption
agencies, Adoption Exchanges, Profiling and Pop up Events and Activity days/events
and consultation sessions with adopters.
There are area based quarterly adoption practice development groups with the
children in care services, led by a Practice Development Officer (Safeguarding Unit),
and with input from the Family finding service.
Procedures for the family finding team are set out in the Placement for Adoption
section guidelines.
Relinquished Babies
The Family Finding Team provides advice, information and counselling for parents
(usually pregnant or new mothers) who are considering adoption for their baby.
Some parents will decide against proceeding with an adoption plan. For those few
parents each year who decide that adoption will be in the best interests of their child,
Kent County Adoption Service will undertake the arrangements in consultation with
parents.

Page 33

Early Permanence Planning
The Family Finding Team works in partnership with district teams to promote early
permanency for children, and to achieve the best possible outcomes for children.
There is one team manager (see structure chart) The Family Finding Team continue
to attend to attend Permanency Planning Meetings (PPMs) across Kent to offer
guidance on such matters as sibling assessments, post adoption contact options, life
story and identity needs, achievable plans, Kent adopters, along with guidance on
the Adoption process. This has been successful and there has been an increased
demand for Family Finding to attend PPM’s.
The team have identified the need to expand this role further to include the tracking
and monitoring of all children who become looked after. Consequently, existing
resources have been creatively redirected to develop a new specialist senior
practitioner role- Permanency Planning Lead, and have successfully recruited to this
with the person commencing in February 2017.
The Family Finding team has continued links with the Independent Reviewing
Service to consider how to jointly improve timeliness and tracking across Kent. The
work between Children with Disabilities, Fostering and Family Finding has been
further strengthened to consider how our children with disabilities can have their
needs for permanence met and that adoption will always be considered as an option.
Foster to Adopt
‘Foster to adopt’ is used for babies and children who are in the care of Kent County
Council where the plan is likely to be adoption, but who still have a chance of being
reunited with their birth family. The majority of children go on to be adopted. Foster
to adopt protects children from experiencing multiple moves within the care system.
It provides children with good quality, uninterrupted and consistent care whilst
detailed assessments of their birth family are completed and the Court decides on
the plan for the child.
Consistent care for the child reduces possible future harm and it supports the child
in developing healthy attachments. Babies and children are placed with approved
adopters who have been assessed and approved as temporary foster carers for the
child. The foster to adopt carers will provide the day to day care for the child and will
continue to work with the child’s social worker to ensure that the child has all of their
needs met.
At the same time, the child’s social worker will continue working with and assessing
the child’s birth parents to see if they have made the changes needed to have the
child returned to their care. The Court will make the final decision on the plan for the
child. If the decision is that the child should be adopted then foster to adopt carers
can go to an adoption matching panel and if panel agree, will become the adopters
for the child. Alternatively, if the Court decides that the child should be returned to
their birth family then the child is returned. As part of developing the scheme in
partnership with Coram, discussions took place with Judiciary, CAFCASS and health
who have all engaged and been positive about the scheme. Kent continues to work
in partnership with Coram to develop this scheme including foster to adopt training
workshops.
Page 34

Adoption Panel Management & Quality Assurance Team
The panel team comprises one full time Team Manager/Agency Adviser and one
Panel Adviser (see structure chart). Four panel meetings (including the Dual Panel
commencing January 2017) are held each month Quality Assurance by the
Agency/Panel Advisers is regarded as a high priority.
Training and briefing to Panel Members is provided to enhance their understanding
of Adoption Issues and their competence in considering and making evidence based
recommendations to the ADMs.
Panel Team Manager/Agency Adviser and Panel Adviser offer advice to social
workers thinking about adoption as a plan for children, practice guidance in writing
CPR’s, in consultation with the Practice Development Team (Safeguarding), plus
general advice on adoption and children permanency care planning mattersincluding the importance of adhering to timescales.
Information for Panel applicants about the procedural operation of the Panels is
available, including formal interviews, inductions and appraisals.
ADM Decisions are made in a timely manner and with careful scrutiny of reports
submitted by social workers and recommendations from the Adoption Panel
submitted.
The feedback from social workers, adoption applicants and panel members is
incorporated into service improvement plans.
The majority of the members of the Kent Adoption Panels are independent.
Members of the Central List have a combined pool of professional and personal
knowledge, experience and skills as adopters and adoptees including background in
adoption and fostering work.
The quality assurance and scrutiny role of the Panels is done through a feedback
form at each meeting. It identifies all issues including the quality of assessments,
child permanency reports, Life Story Work, birth relatives’ support and the voice of
the child. This feedback from the Panels has been used to improve services and
practice. In addition the Chairs provide their 6 monthly reports.
The Agency Decision Makers, Head of Adoption, Agency Advisers, Medical Advisers,
Panel Chairs all have regular meetings to review and plan better working methods
designed to ensure better outcomes for children and their families.
An extra adoption panel was created with foster to adopt in mind. Panel members
have been recruited and they will receive training on the dual approval requirements
and process in early January so the panel will be fully functioning by the end of
January 2017.
Procedures for the Adoption Panel service are set out in the Adoption Panel section,
Kent Children’s Procedures online.

Page 35

Post Adoption and SGO Team (PAST)
Kent Adoption service was led by Coram Voluntary Adoption Agency between 2012
to January 2016. The contract between Kent County Council (KCC) and Coram,
prior to January 2016 meant that Coram managed the delivery of the majority of the
adoption services for KCC; the current contract has a focus on the further
development of the post adoption support menu and the multi-disciplinary team
model. The Coram vision for the Post Adoption Support Team (PAST) model
practised in Kent, developed since 2014, was based on recognition that adopters
and adopted children require timely skilled clinical and social work expertise inhouse. The approach was developed in conjunction with adopters and the Tavistock
Institute. Coram has written a paper on the development of the model, its
effectiveness and how it could be replicated.
The Therapists and a Clinical Lead (Supervisor) remain employed by Coram and
work alongside the Kent Team Manager and Social Workers (see structure chart).
The team developed between Kent and Coram focuses on timely assessments and
interventions undertaken primarily ‘in house’ unless the children and their family
reside outside of the Kent area and therefore a more localised service is required or
if their requirements cannot be met within the PAST due to the absence of the
required skill base.
The model of post adoption support is being expanded in 2017 to include SGO
support work. The work was scoped by Coram including options for developing the
service delivery models. A SGO senior social worker is building on the work started
by Coram, including providing advice and information to child care social workers
with a view to growing the service as requests for support is made and there is an
increase in applications to the Adoption Support Fund.

The PAST provides a range of services to adopted children and their families
including:
Advice & Assessment




Provision of information, advice and guidance to adopters and professionals
through the advice line.
Consultation, assessment and intervention to adopters and their families
through initial telephone or face to face consultation, brief therapeutic
intervention (6 sessions) and therapeutic life story work.
Intensive family interventions to bring a deeper understanding of children and
young people’s state of mind, mental health and wellbeing; and to support
adoptive parents in parenting their children to bring about their social and
emotional development.

Group and workshop programme


Incredible Years Parenting programme for adopters with children under 9
years. The partnership has delivered four Incredible Years Parenting
Programmes, with the
Page 36



STOP parenting programme for adopters with adolescents - first delivery of
the STOP programme took place in December 2016/January 2017. Kent staff
from PAST have been trained to deliver future programmes. The vision is to
train adopters to co-facilitate the programme with a Kent/Coram staff member.
Coram’s developmental role will end when Kent is able to provide the training
programmes through its own trained staff in 2017.
 The development of a Parenting Programme (on-going) specifically geared for
adoptive parents with autistic children –to be piloted in March 2017 led by
PAST and a Kent educational representative. Intensive Adoptive Parent
Support Groups (ongoing)- 2 Groups, one in East Kent and one in West Kent,
facilitated by clinical staff, each running for 8 weeks for 2 hours.
 Learning and Development workshop programme for adopters, and their
families – (Rolling programme running from September to the following July
each year). Includes topics such as explaining adoption, ‘Whose in charge’,
Transitions, Social media, siblings and parenting adolescents.
 In addition close working relationship with the Adoption Support Fund has
been developed including a senior representative from the fund speaking to
adopters directly on three different occasions.
Supporting Education
Education conference held on 7th October 2016 attended by adopters, Senior
Managers, social workers, teachers and educational representatives focusing on
educational issues for adopted children and the support needed. Following on from
the conference, a workshop on attachment and developing adoption friendly schools
is being delivered in March 2017 by the Adult Therapist in the team. In addition, a
workshop for adopters on educational matters including the use of pupil premium is
being delivered in March 2017 by the Virtual School, Kent in conjunction with an
adopter.
Pilot mentoring scheme
This became operational following 2-day training for adopters who were recruited to
be mentors. The objective of this scheme is to support adopters in early placement.
Learning is being incorporated into the continuous development of the scheme.
Young people’s participation group
Strengthening adopted children and young people’s voices - developed by family
therapist and senior social worker from PAST, in conjunction with Coram
‘Adoptables’.
Advisory Board
Strengthening the voice of adoptive parents - This group has Terms of Reference
and quarterly meetings are chaired by the PAST Team Manager. It serves as an
advisor and critical friend to the service.
Procedures for adoption support are set out in the Adoption Support Section and
Education Policy for children Adopted from Care, Kent Children’s procedures online.

Services to Birth Parents & Adult Adoptees
Page 37

Barnardo’s (CAFIS) Adoption Support
Contact, intermediary and birthparent support services are provided by a
commissioned service provided by Barnardo’s, the children’s charity.
Independent Support Service to Birth Parents
To provide a support and counselling service to birth parents prior to an adoption
taking place, where a child is (or children are) in care and looked after by Kent
County Council, and for whom adoption has been identified as the plan.
Birth parents will have access to a support worker independent of the child’s social
worker from the time adoption is identified as the plan for the child. This may include
counselling on the procedures for placement for adoption and adoption itself.
Access to Birth Records and Intermediary Service for Adult Adoptees
To assist adopted persons, either adopted through Kent County Council or who are
resident in Kent, and who are aged 18 or over, to obtain information in relation to
their adoption, and to facilitate contact between such persons and their adult birth
relatives. Adopted adults may wish to use either one of these services i.e. “access
to birth records” only, or “intermediary services” only (having completed their own
research into their pre-adoption background), or they may wish to use both services.
Advice will be given, as appropriate, on tracing birth relatives.
Access to Information and an Intermediary Service for Birth Relatives
To provide access to non-identifying information regarding the adoption and advice
and support to birth relatives aged 18 and over, who require intermediary services,
when the adoptee has reached age 18 or over. Information on counselling for the
applicant and the subject of the application should be made available. Priority given
to relatives of people adopted before 12th November 1975.
Contact Services
A contact service for children under the age of 18 who have been adopted, or who
are the subject of a Special Guardianship Order and who have contact with their
birth relatives. The contact services include both an Indirect Letterbox Service and
also a Direct Contact Service (face to face) as defined in the Adoption and Children
Act 2002, and Children Act 1989.
Procedures are set out in Access to Birth Records and Adoption Case Records,
Intermediary Services in Kent Childrens Procedures online

Inter Country Adoption
Kent has a contract with The Intercountry Adoption Centre (IAC). This is a full
service provided from the point of enquiry until the child enters the UK with the
adopters. The service includes provision for first time adopters, adopting again, and
kinship applicants or those who have already identified (and sometimes adopted) the
child in the State of origin.
IAC specialist knowledge of adoption procedures and practices in States of origin
and its involvement in the adoption application up to the time the child arrives in the
Page 38

UK can bring clear casework benefits and in addition reduces costs to the Local
Authority, for example in relation to social work practitioner and management time,
panel time and administrative time.
Procedures for Inter Country Adoption are set out in the inter country section, Kent
children’s procedures online.

Management & Monitoring of the Adoption Service
As stated earlier, Kent Adoption Service was led by Coram Voluntary Adoption
Agency between 2012 and 2016. Kent County Council re-established management
of the Adoption service in January 2016. The permanent appointment of a Head of
Adoption in Kent and the appointment of permanent Team Managers, secured a
focus on service delivery and ensuring the success and ambition of the Coram (VAA)
management in the last 4 years continued. This entailed significant review of the
staffing including budgets and team structures resources to ensure that there was
sufficient capability within the service to deliver the adoption service.
Performance is measured through Kent performance management systems and this
includes the development of a team operational dashboard (TOD) with data available
at a team and individual level so activity can be tracked by managers supporting the
ongoing focus on timeliness.
The continued focus of robust tracking systems across Kent supports the early
identification of children for whom the plan is likely to be adoption. This in turn
creates early identification of matches and has reduced the time taken for children
moving to their adoptive placement following a placement order.
The Head of Adoption continues to work in partnership with the Children in Care
Service Managers and reviews the process and tracking to ensure that the decision
making is robust and the Adoption Service is impacting on permanency planning
meetings to reduce delay and speedily progress plans for adoption. There continues
to be a close working relationship between the R&A team and the Family Finding
team in the matching process. There are weekly linking meetings, chaired by the
Head of Adoption and attended by the three managers from teams. Every approved
adoptive family and those being assessed in stage two (unless they have expressed
a preference to wait until after approval) are considered for the children identified as
needing adoptive parents.
Possible links are followed up with the Family Finding and Recruitment &
Assessment social workers with a sense of urgency to avoid delay. Approved
adopters and those in stage two are regularly sent profiles of children so that they
can self-select and express an interest. This is in addition to being invited to Profiling
events and having the possibility of arranging a meeting with a Family Finding social
worker. There is an emphasis on making sure that all Recruitment & Assessment
and Family Finding social workers have a good awareness of the families and
children coming through the adoption process.
Each potential match is carefully tracked to ensure timely placement of the child.
There is an expectation that the social workers prepare the court application so that it
can be submitted at ten weeks unless there is good reason for this to not happen. An
after adoption feedback form is sent to each family after the adoption order is
granted.
Page 39

The Adoption Service continues to provide an annual report to the Corporate
Parenting Panel. The Adoption ‘Deep dive’ takes place quarterly and is chaired by
the Corporate Director of Health & Social Care and the Director of Specialist
Children’s Services.

Complaints Procedures
The majority of complaints made of the Adoption Service are resolved through a
problem-solving approach within the service and we always welcome hearing from
those affected if however, concerns remain unresolved Kent County Council has a
comprehensive Complaints Procedure. Complaints are valued as a way of
improving the services which are provided. If a complaint is not resolved in this way,
the matter is progressed through a formal complaints procedure outlined as follows.
Step 1
Contact us with details of your complaint:


write to Kent Children's Social Services, Customer Care, Kroner House,
Eurogate Business Park, Ashford, TN24 8XU



call 03000 410304



email cscomplaints@kent.gov.uk



Text 0786000 8025, start your message with the word complaint.

We can help you put your complaint in writing or give you advice.
Responses
We will then look into the issues and try to help, and you will receive a written reply
from a senior manager. We aim to resolve your complaint within 10 working days,
and by 20 working days at the latest. If your complaint will take longer we will keep
you informed of the progress.
Step 2
If you are not satisfied with the first response to your complaint you have the right to
take it further.

Investigation
You may be entitled to an investigation or take your complaint to the Local
Government Ombudsman. Contact us for advice.
If we investigate your complaint:


an investigating officer who is new to your case will look into the issues raised
Page 40



an independent person from The Young Lives Foundation, the children's
charity, will also be appointed to consider your complaint



The investigating officer and the independent person will contact you to make
sure they fully understand the complaint.

Responses
When the investigation is complete, we will send you a full response. We aim to do
this within 25 working days of the investigation starting, but it can take longer. We
will keep you informed of progress. Where it is not possible to complete the
investigation within 25 working days, it may be extended to a maximum of 65
working days.
Other organisations that can help:
Local Government Ombudsman
If you remain unhappy with the response to your complaint you have the right to take
your complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman who is independent of Kent
County Council. You may contact them at any time but they would normally expect
you to complete our complaints procedure first.
The Young Lives Foundation
If you are a child or young person in care, you can get help to make a complaint
from The Young Lives Foundation:


call 01622 683815



email advocacy@ylf.org.uk



The Young Lives Foundation website.

Ofsted Contact Details
Ofsted
NBU, 3rd Floor
Royal Exchange Buildings
St Ann’s Square
Manchester
M2 7LA
Telephone: 08456 404040
Fax: 08456 404049

Email: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
Web: www.ofsted.gov.uk

Page 41

Name and Address of Manager
Sarah Skinner - BA (Hons), MA and CQSW - Head of Adoption
Address: Kent Adoption Service, The Stable Block, Oakwood House, Maidstone,
Kent ME16 8AE Tel: 03000 420508
Qualifications and Experience of Manager
Sarah Skinner – Qualifications and Experience
Sarah Skinner was awarded a BA (Hons) Social Science from Bristol Polytechnic in
1985. She then went on to study at Warwick University in 1987 where she graduated
with a MA Applied Social Studies & CQSW. This was followed by completion of the
Advanced Social Work Diploma, Goldsmith University 1991.
Sarah has a sound working knowledge and experience of operational, strategic
planning, service delivery and managing budgets across a variety of teams and
services in children’s service within the local authority and can demonstrate a proven
record of achievement. Alongside the Adoption Service these include Children and
Families, Policy and Performance & the Independent Reviewing Service and Virtual
School Kent. Sarah has experience of project/change management and working in
partnership with multi agency colleagues and other sectors within KCC such as
Education, Youth Offending Service, Advisory Service Kent, The Educational
Psychology Service, Connexions. She has experience of developing and implementing
service planning, performance and quality assurance in a multi-disciplinary and
partnership environment.
Sarah has gained a thorough knowledge of adoption legislation and other relevant child
care legislation and regulations that impact upon the well-being of children in care and
those who have left care. She is fully aware of the Adoption Vision for Change agenda
and is developing this initiative in Kent.
Sarah has presented many reports to senior managers in Kent regarding the adoption
service and other areas of work she has engaged in. This has included strategic
boards such as The Corporate Parenting Panel, The Kent Corporate Parenting Group
and The CAMHS Strategy Board as well as to Specialist Children’s Senior
Management.
Sarah returned as Head of Kent Adoption Service in July 2016

Page 42

Structure Chart

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item B2

From:

Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s
Services
Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health
and Wellbeing

To:

Corporate Parenting Panel – 20 March 2017

Subject:

PLACEMENT STABILITY – ‘SENSE OF BELONGING’

Classification:

Unrestricted

Electoral Division:

All

Summary: This report outlines the Kent offer to foster carers to create and provide
increased placement stability. There are three components of the newly developed
‘Sense of Belonging’ offer; this offer creates choices for foster carers, children and
young people that allows them to consider what will provide the best opportunities for
children to thrive and develop in their placements and prevent further disruption. Kent
Fostering Service proposes the implementation of additional support for their most
vulnerable fostering placements, where additional pressures upon the foster carers
mean there is a higher risk of a placement breakdown.
Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to
CONSIDER and COMMENT on the content of the report.
1.

Introduction

1.1 A key issue for the fostering service and Children in Care Teams has been the
need to focus on supporting and improving placement stability. This is to
ensure that looked after children experience long term stable placements where
they can achieve good outcomes and reach their full potential. There are those
children and young people for whom their early life experiences have meant
that they can be challenging for carers. Kent has recognised the need to
enhance foster care resilience in caring for children. As the complexity of
children’s needs increase, the service response from Specialist Children’s
Services (SCS) must meet these needs. The aim will be to improve placement
stability across the county, alongside improving children and young people’s
opportunities for development, supporting them to increase their self-esteem
and assisting them to return to full time education.
1.2 There has been consideration of feedback provided from foster carers and
children which has then informed the development of the Sense of Belonging
offer.

Page 45

2.

Contents

2.1 This report outlines three offers to carers and to children. The offer can be used
as either a single entity offer or, for our most challenging children, a
combination of two or more options to support placement stability.
The criteria for accessing this additional package will be based on:
 Children/young people who have had three plus placement moves
 Children/young people out of education or excluded
 Children/young people on a part time timetable
 Children/young people at risk of missing/Child Sexual Exploitation
(CSE)
 Placements assessed at risk of breakdown where the package is
identified as a support to maintain the placement at the stability core
group.
 For children with complex needs as an offer of support within the
referral and matching, particularly for children coming from a
placement breakdown, including Independent Fostering Agencies
(IFA).
2.2 The offer of support will consist of three options.
2.2.1 Option 1
This will be an initial four month package of support, using the council’s outdoor
activity centres to offer day activities and overnight residential weekends.
 Month One – Two introduction days at either Swattenden Centre or Bewl
Water
 Month Two – A one-night residential weekend (that includes two full days
of activities and an overnight stay on the Saturday night)
 Month Three - A one-night residential weekend (that includes two full
days of activities and an overnight stay on the Saturday night)
 Month Four – A two-night residential weekend (Friday and Saturday) or
break in the school holidays.
The outdoor activities will be staffed by trained instructors supported by youth
workers to provide supervision and pastoral care to the children, including
overnight support. Due to the facilities being in the West of the county,
transport will be provided from a central collection point to enable all
children/young people to have access and ensure that foster carers are able to
have a full day or weekend break from caring.
Outcomes for Children
The offer of support will aim to give children and young people an opportunity to
try new activities and these can be provided specific to their individual interests
and learning needs. For children experiencing difficulties within their education,
the aim would be for them to build on their self-esteem and confidence at being
in a group, with the aim to reintegrate them back into full time education. For
those children that would view going to a different foster carer for respite as a
negative, it will give an alternative option for overnight stays, to enable foster
carers to have a break, without the child feeling they are being sent away.
Page 46

Outcomes for Foster Carers
The main aim of the offer is to increase placement stability for the child, by
being able to enable the foster carer to have regular breaks from the pressure
of the caring role. For the carer to know that they have planned breaks over a
four month period, it will aim to stabilise the placement and prevent placement
breakdown. For foster carers who have a number of children in their care
and/or birth children, it will give them opportunities to plan individual time for
these children.
2.2.2 Option 2
This involves the provision of dedicated foster carer hub families, which provide
regular respite care. For some children and young people, the provision of
support through outdoor activity centres will not meet their needs and they may
struggle in a group setting. These children/young people will need a family
based support package which will be based on research from the Mockingbird
Project1 and Kent’s pilot in East Kent of the 4x4 model/Adolescent Wrap Around
Project. This model will identify one fostering support family as the “dedicated
family hub” within each of the seven fostering teams, who will work intensively
with three fostering households to provide care for three children or young
people. This will include the provision of weekly day care support and capacity
for overnight respite stays, including the ability to respond in an emergency.
The aim is to create a “hub family” who become like extended family members
to the child, offering them stability and care when the main foster carer needs a
break. At times of particular stress, such as a young person being out of
education or regularly at risk of going missing, support can be increased by the
hub family to minimise the risk of placement breakdown. Each child/young
person would have an individual package of support, which will include some
monthly overnight respite stays.
Outcomes for Children
The hub family will become part of the children’s support network, being able to
become similar to extended family members by providing a familiar home
environment where the child feels safe. It will provide an alternative safe adult
to assist the main carer to provide a sense of stability. The hub family will have
capacity to respond in an emergency, for example when a child is excluded
from school, and is able to work with the child’s care plan in assisting with
educational activities in partnership with Virtual School Kent (VSK).
Outcomes for Foster Carers
The main aim of the offer is to increase placement stability for the child by being
able to enable the foster carer to have regular breaks from the pressure of the
caring role. The main carer will have identified planned breaks, whether this is
day care or overnight stays, and the aim is to stabilise the placement and
prevent placement breakdown. For foster carers who have a number of
children in their care and/or birth children, it will give them opportunities to plan
individual time for these children. It uses the concept of a dedicated ‘hub home’
1

The Mockingbird Society developed the model in USA( see fostering network.org.uk)

Page 47

of specially recruited and trained carers offering respite care, peer support,
regular joint planning and social activities. For example, a respite carer will
respond to texts and phone calls from other foster carers. They may also have
a problem they want to talk about and the respite carer is there to help them
sound out, and offer advice (not dissimilar to the carers group). They also offer
more practical support, picking up from school and respite (called sleepovers).
2.2.3 Option 3
The new service model for therapeutic support
The proposal is to commission a county-wide service for children and young
people in care, placed within in-house foster placements. The aim is to
increase placement stability and reduce the number of placement disruptions.
The vision for the service is to create a Fostering Sense of Stability Service.
This new service will provide clinical psychology input to the in-house fostering
supervising social workers, foster carers and the children/young people. This
service will be supported by two dedicated support workers who already are in
place supporting the existing Therapeutic Re-Parenting scheme. Currently
there is no access to immediate support and intervention from clinical
psychology services.
The overarching aims of this part of the Sense of Belonging are:
 To ensure there is provision of clinical psychology support to children in
care at times of crisis and placement instability
 To intervene at the earliest possible stage, in the most appropriate
manner, to prevent the escalation of behaviour and support the
emotional and/or mental health needs of children and young people
 To support the children and foster carers who accessed psychological
support through the Therapeutic Re-Parenting (TRP) service by
facilitating network meetings and support groups for the period July
2017–March 2018 (maximum of eight children). The TRP contract
ends in June 2017; the termination of this contract has provided the
opportunity to consider how the psychological support to placements
might be commissioned differently, to include a larger cohort of children
and carers
 By providing practical approaches to caring for children in crisis, foster
carers will develop skills and knowledge
 To identify and offer support to children and young people displaying
trauma and behaviour that is impacting upon the stability of the
fostering household
 To effect improved joint working arrangements with providers of
emotional wellbeing and mental health services
 To reduce the numbers of high-cost IFA placements by supporting inhouse foster carers at times of crisis, to avoid the placement breaking
down.
2.3 Strategic context
This proposal aligns with the Strategic Outcome – ‘children and young people
get the best start in life’. The wider vision will be to further develop a clinical
Page 48

psychology hub that includes those services available for post adoption and
consider the mental health offer to care leavers.
3.

Conclusions

3.1 The fostering service believes that this Sense of Belonging offer is making a
difference and will further develop as hub families are recruited and the contract
for the bespoke psychology service commences. Increased support will be
provided to foster carers, children and young people. The impact of the Sense
of Belonging offer will be monitored through feedback from carers and children,
along with the performance data on placement stability.
4.

Recommendation

4.1 Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to
CONSIDER and COMMENT on the content of the report.
5.

Background Documents

5.1 None
6.

Contact details
Lead Officer
Naintara Khosla
Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 422241
naintara.khosla@kent.gov.uk
Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 49

This page is intentionally left blank

